Filed 09-12-2023

Page 1 of 46

FILED 09-12-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2023AP396-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

LOGAN T. KRUCKENBERG ANDERSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER SUPPRESSING A CONFESSION ENTERED IN THE GREEN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. VALE PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Two hours after her birth, Defendant-Respondent Logan T. Kruckenberg Anderson¹ put his infant daughter, Heather, in a backpack, and carried her into the woods. He placed her in a hollow log and Heather started to cry. Kruckenberg then took a .22 pistol he had stolen and shot Heather twice, execution-style, in the head. He buried her body in some snow and walked away. When asked by Heather's mother and her mother's frantic family where Heather was four days later, Kruckenberg lied and told everyone that he gave the baby to a friend he knew through SnapChat to take to an adoption agency.

We know this because while law enforcement was trying to track down any trace of this friend or the infant, Kruckenberg told them that he'd actually left Heather in the snow to die hours after her birth, and agreed to lead the officers to where he left her in the woods. He did so during an amicable, noncustodial interview that he freely consented to, and during which Kruckenberg had repeatedly been reminded that he was free to leave and was not under arrest, was asked open-ended questions, and had been provided water, bathroom breaks, a trusted adult present, and complete freedom of movement. And the next day, after Heather's body was recovered and Kruckenberg was confronted with the fact that the gunshot wounds were located in her tiny skull, Kruckenberg finally admitted to law enforcement that he shot her.

The circuit court, however, suppressed Kruckenberg's initial admissions that he abandoned the infant in the snow to die and his subsequent admission that his previous

 $^{^1}$ Kruckenberg Anderson typically goes by "Kruckenberg" only as his last name, (R. 111:2), and, for brevity, the State will do the same.

Page 8 of 46

assertions about the SnapChat friend were lies, concluding that despite the very open nature of the settings, discussions, and circumstances, Kruckenberg was in custody during these interviews and that his ability to resist questioning was overborne by law enforcement. But the circuit court's legal determination of custody was based on what it thought Kruckenberg and the officers subjectively believed and a characterization of the circumstances that is simply not borne out by the facts, and it reached its involuntariness legal conclusion: (1) without a finding of any police misconduct; (2) by applying a non-legal definition of coercion given by a psychologist; (3) by considering things said to Kruckenberg by a third party; and (4) based upon opinions about an interrogation technique the officers did not use, but that this Court has already found non-coercive, in any event.

This decision was error. This Court should reverse the decision of the circuit court.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument or publication. This case deals only with the application of settled law to the facts, which will be adequately addressed on briefs.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Around 1:30 a.m. on January 9, 2021, Green County Sheriff's Deputy Derek Whitcomb responded to a call from Mark P.², Lauren P.'s father, who said that his family had just learned that 14-year-old Lauren gave birth in his residence

² Because several relevant people in this case are juveniles, in the interests of maintaining their confidentiality, the State uses pseudonyms for all of the non-law-enforcement persons apart from the defendant.

four days earlier. (2:2; 110:11–78.) Mark reported that Lauren's 16-year-old boyfriend, Kruckenberg, had apparently taken the baby away and the baby had not been seen since. (2:2; 110:2.) Nearly all of the following was captured on video as an intense effort to find the infant ensued:

Whitcomb and Deputy Zachary Degner spoke with Kruckenberg, Lauren, and Lauren's family. (110:2–13, 49.) had named the baby "Heather." Lauren (110:69.)Kruckenberg said he gave Heather to his friend "Tyler" a few hours after her birth. (2:2; 110:5, 16.) He claimed Tyler was a roughly 22 year old mixed race male living in Brodhead who Kruckenberg met through SnapChat, and whose last name Kruckenberg did not know. (2:2;110:5-6,14 - 15.) Kruckenberg said he met Tyler at a park in Albany and gave him 60 dollars to take the baby to an adoption agency in Madison. (2:2; 110:6–7, 16.) He said Tyler had blocked him on SnapChat after Lauren's family demanded that Kruckenberg contact him. (2:2; 68:2; 110:6, 17.) The officers said this sounded extremely odd, but Wisconsin's "safe haven law" allows a person to surrender an infant at safe locations within 72 hours of birth, so if this was true, there was no crime committed; however, they needed to make sure the baby was safe. (110:19; 111:13.) Whitcomb returned Kruckenberg to his mother's house around 6:00 a.m. (151:3.)

About eight hours later, Detective Christopher Fiez and Albany Police Chief Robert Ritter went to Delores F.'s house, with whom Kruckenberg lived during the week, seeking more information. (124:24–25; 126:17; 151:3.) They asked Kruckenberg if he was willing to answer questions at the Albany PD, and he agreed. (126:18–19.) Fiez clarified that Kruckenberg was not in any trouble or under arrest. (112:9.) Kruckenberg told Ritter the same story about Tyler. (112:11– 42.) Ritter beseeched Kruckenberg to tell them if something else happened and to help them locate Heather or "Tyler." (112:33–36.) Kruckenberg said he was telling them everything he knew. (112:34.) Delores picked Kruckenberg up from the station around 5:00 p.m. (126:81.)

As no trace of "Tyler" or the newborn was found, several officers were dispatched to Delores's house to ask permission to search it. (134:6.) This included DCI Agent James Pertzborn and FBI Agent Brian Baker, who asked if Kruckenberg was willing to answer some follow-up questions at the Brodhead PD; it was less crowded and had a dedicated recorded interview room. (124:8-18; 193 (Jan. 09 video) 45:14-46:00.) Kruckenberg agreed and requested that Delores come too. (124:16–17.) The agents said "[a]bsolutely" and Delores got dressed while Kruckenberg went with Pertzborn and Baker, in an unmarked Chevy Tahoe, to Brodhead PD. (124:17-19; 193 (Jan. 09 video) 02:16-3:00.) On the way, Pertzborn said they would wait for Dolores before talking about the baby, that Kruckenberg was not in custody, that he was free to leave, and he did not have to answer any questions. (124:23–24.) Kruckenberg said he would talk to anyone who would help find the baby. (124:24.) Once at Brodhead PD, they chatted about innocuous topics while waiting for Delores. (115:1-25; 190 12:07:08-12:40:40.)

Delores arrived around 12:40 a.m., January 10th. (115:25; 190 12:40:16.) Pertzborn reaffirmed that he was with DCI, Kruckenberg was not obligated to stay, and said Delores should feel free to "jump in at any time." (190 12:42:00–12:42:17.) Pertzborn reiterated that Kruckenberg "is not under arrest. He does not have to talk to me. He can leave at any time. You guys can pick up and leave if you would like. Alright? You understand that?" (190 12:42:09–12:42:22.) Kruckenberg said he understood, and Delores said, "I recommend talking to them." (190 12:42:24.) Pertzborn offered to answer any questions from Kruckenberg or Delores, and neither had any. (190 12:43:18–12:43:42.)

Pertzborn asked if Kruckenberg knew why Pertzborn needed to talk to him, and Kruckenberg said yes, "because we have no idea where that child is," and Pertzborn said "no, some of us do, but what I want you to do is talk to me. Alright? And walk me through this. Alright? How we got to this point." (190 12:45:10–12:45:30.) Kruckenberg said he bought Lauren a pregnancy test a few weeks previously. (190 12:46:05-12:50:14.) Kruckenberg said they discussed what to do because they did not want to keep the baby and Lauren did not want anyone to know she gave birth, including her parents. (190 12:49:01-12:50:30.) He said they landed on adoption, and he texted Tyler. (190 12:51:07-12:51:22.) Pertzborn stopped and asked for details about Tyler; Kruckenberg maintained that he met Tyler through SnapChat and did not know his last name, that Tyler was mixed race and about 23 to 24 years old, heavyset, lived in Brodhead with his mixed-race girlfriend, drove a Chevy Equinox, and that they had played darts and pool together about 18 times. (190 12:51:23-12:55:13.) Delores looked incredulous, and Pertzborn asked Delores if she'd ever heard of or seen Tyler; she said no. (124:40; 190 12:55:15-12:55:20.)

Pertzborn said that Kruckenberg was not being truthful, and needed to tell him the truth or he could not help him. (190 12:55:28–12:56:01.) Delores also repeatedly urged Kruckenberg to tell the truth and that she, too, could not help him otherwise. (190 12:57:20–12:59:41.) Pertzborn said no one contacted in Brodhead had ever heard of Tyler or his girlfriend or had ever seen their vehicle. (190 12:58:35– 12:58:47.) He told Kruckenberg they were going to wipe the slate clean and start over. (190 12:59:00–12:59:20.) Pertzborn told Kruckenberg that he was not a bad person and asked "[c]an we just start over and do the right thing here?" (190 12:59:42–1:00:57.)

Kruckenberg then asked if he could talk to Pertzborn, one-on-one. (190 1:00:58–1:01:16.) Pertzborn said yes and thanked Kruckenberg. (190 1:01:17.) Delores and Agent Baker left the room. (190 1:01:20–1:01:45.) Pertzborn gave

Page 12 of 46

Kruckenberg another water and shook Kruckenberg's hand, told him he was going to help him through this and he knew Kruckenberg was scared, but they would "just work on fixing it from here." (124:47; 190 1:01:20–1:02:09.) Kruckenberg asked what was going to happen, and Pertzborn said he didn't know, but he'd be able to write a report saying Kruckenberg was apologetic. (190 1:02:10–1:02:32.) Pertzborn then told Kruckenberg that "[w]e need to do a couple things. We need to bury, give that precious child of yours, a proper burial." (190 1:02:33–1:02:41.) Kruckenberg said, "[a] burial. Yeah." (190 1:02:41.) Pertzborn said they needed to recover her body, and Kruckenberg asked him to open Google maps. (190 1:02:42–1:03:02.)

Kruckenberg described a park in Albany and said he and a "friend" buried Heather in the snow. (190 1:03:02– 1:07:26.) Pertzborn then had Kruckenberg walk him through the morning of the 5th. This time, Kruckenberg claimed his friend "Alex" was involved, but again could not give a last name. (190 1:09:12–1:09:56.) Kruckenberg stopped and asked if he could give Delores a hug, and Pertzborn replied, "of course." (190 1:10:00–1:10:07.) Delores hugged Kruckenberg and told him everyone still loved him. (190 1:10:08–1:11:03.) Kruckenberg took a bathroom break, and Baker asked if he could return. Kruckenberg said yes. (190 1:11:14–1:13:57.)

Kruckenberg said when the baby arrived, they "just needed it out of our lives." (190 1:18:42–1:26:20.) He put the baby in a backpack and started walking when he ran into Alex. (190 1:29:24–1:34:04.) He asked Alex to drive him to Madison to surrender the baby, but Alex refused and suggested Kruckenberg abandon her in the woods. (190 1:34:04–1:41:43.) Kruckenberg said he then walked into the woods, took Heather out of the backpack and laid her in a hollow log, and she began to cry. (190 1:41:43–1:42:17.) He said he covered her with snow and left, knowing she would die. (190 1:42:14–1:43:35.) Pertzborn thanked him, and he hoped Kruckenberg felt better telling the truth. (190 1:45:10–1:45:40.) He asked Kruckenberg to take them to Heather's body, and Kruckenberg said he would as long as he did not have to see her. Pertzborn said that was fine. (190 1:45:35–1:45:40.) Kruckenberg asked if he could ride with Delores and Pertzborn said no, but clarified that Kruckenberg was not in custody; it was so Kruckenberg could direct him to the right location, and Pertzborn asked if that was alright. (190 1:45:47–1:46:17.) Kruckenberg replied, "It's perfectly fine, I'm perfectly fine with it." (190 1:46:06–1:46:17.) The interview ended and Pertzborn thanked Kruckenberg again and asked if he was okay, and Kruckenberg replied that he was. (190 1:46:28–1:46:32.)

Kruckenberg got back into the front passenger seat of the Tahoe and directed Pertzborn to Ruben's Cave Drive. (124:48–49.) Kruckenberg located his footprints in the snow. (124:49.) Pertzborn and other officers followed Kruckenberg's footprints until they located Heather's body. (124:51; 193 (Jan. 10 video) 00:00–07:07, 12:15; 194.) Pertzborn returned and told Kruckenberg he had some further questions, but again that he was not under arrest and was under no obligation to talk. (124:51–52.) Kruckenberg agreed, and they went to the Albany PD. (124:52.) Pertzborn asked if Kruckenberg wanted Delores to join them, and Kruckenberg said no; he found it too difficult to talk about Heather in front of Delores. (124:53.)

Once there, they entered an employee break room and sat around a table; Kruckenberg chatted about his favorite sodas and used the restroom. (124:54; 195 AMBA0197 00:00– 04:39.) Pertzborn had Kruckenberg confirm that he understood the door was unlocked, that he knew he was not in custody, that Kruckenberg had voluntarily been speaking with him, and never felt pressured or threatened. (195 AMBA0198 00:00–01:33.) Kruckenberg then told the officers that he had taken the baby to the woods to get rid of her, that he "kind of figured she was going to die," and that everything he'd said about "Tyler" was a lie. (116:20,23–25; 195 AMBA0196–203.) He claimed, though, that he did not physically harm Heather. (116:23; 195 AMBA0203 03:50– 03:55.) About 40 minutes later Green County Sheriff's Officers decided to arrest Kruckenberg. (196:23–24.)

Officers spoke with Kruckenberg during a *Mirandized* interview at the Rock County Juvenile Detention Center after Heather's body was examined. (117:1; 192 (video 5) 00:07–05:22.) Kruckenberg confessed that he actually shot Heather twice in the head. (117:42–47; 192 (video 5) 58:33–1:31:49.) Kruckenberg then said Lauren knew he had a pistol that he had purchased through an app called "Let Go," and Lauren asked him to shoot Heather. (117:43–63, 104; 192 (video 5) 1:13:12–1:57:25.) He said that his stories about both "Tyler" and "Alex" were false. (117:72–74; 192 (video 5) 1:25:40–1:29:45.)

SnapChat records, though, suggested that nothing Kruckenberg had told them about Lauren's involvement was true. (43.) Pertzborn and Agent Brian Hawley thus spoke to Kruckenberg the next day. (118:3–4; 190³ 21-170-27 View 3 00:47.) After Kruckenberg claimed he left the gun at Lauren's house, Pertzborn told him that his friend Gerald had turned over the firearm. (118:5; 190 21-170-27 View 3 07:23–09:18.) Kruckenberg then admitted he gave Gerald the gun the morning of January 6th, and that he did not buy the gun but stole it from Delores's house. (118:11–12, 19.) Kruckenberg further admitted that it was his idea to shoot Heather. (118:17–19; 190 21-170-27 View 3 37:44–52:20.) And finally, confronted with when his messages with Lauren,

³ There are three videos on this exhibit of the same interview. The State refers to the third of these and does so by timestamp.

Kruckenberg admitted that: (1) Lauren did not know he was going to shoot the baby; and (2) after he returned from the woods, he lied and said he gave Heather to Gerald's mother to take to an adoption agency. (118:38–40; 190 21-170-27 View 3 00:14:51–02:17:40.)

The State thereafter charged Kruckenberg with one count of first-degree intentional homicide and one count of hiding or burying the corpse of a child. (2:1.) Kruckenberg moved to suppress all of his statements to law enforcement, contending they were all custodial and impermissibly coerced. (83.) The circuit court held a multi-day hearing on the issue at which 11 law enforcement officers, Delores, and a defenseobtained psychologist, Dr. Brian Cutler, testified. (125; 127; 123; 132; 133; 148–150.) Videos of each of law enforcement's contacts with Kruckenberg were also played. (184–195.)

The circuit court found that Kruckenberg was not in custody and gave voluntary statements when talking to officers when they were first investigating between 1:58 a.m. and 6:08 a.m. on January 9th. (196:9–12.) It found the same about the interview Fiez and Ritter conducted at the Albany PD on January 9th. (196:12–16.) And it found that though Kruckenberg was in custody for the January 10th and 11th interviews at the detention center, at both, law enforcement had read Kruckenberg his *Miranda* rights, Kruckenberg voluntarily waived them, and his statements were voluntary. (196:33–34.)

The court found, however, that Pertzborn's initial interview with Kruckenberg at Brodhead PD and subsequent interview at Albany PD after locating Heather's body late January 9th and early January 10th were custodial interrogations conducted without *Miranda* warnings, and that Kruckenberg's statements given during those interviews were involuntary. (196:17–29.) It suppressed the statements given in those interviews. (170.) The State appeals.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court "accept[s] the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous." State v. Schloegel, 2009 WI App 85, ¶ 8, 319 Wis. 2d 741, 769 N.W.2d 130. "Whether the facts demonstrate custody for Miranda purposes" and whether a person's statements to police were voluntary are questions of law reviewed de novo. Id.; State v. Vice, 2021 WI 63, ¶ 21, 397 Wis. 2d 682, 961 N.W.2d 1.

"In this case," though, "we have a video-recorded interrogation." *State v. Rejholec*, 2021 WI App 45, ¶ 17, 398 Wis. 2d 729, 963 N.W.2d 121. Where an interrogation is video recorded, this Court is "in the same position as the circuit court to determine what occurred during the interrogation and therefore independently make that determination." *Id*.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in suppressing Kruckenberg's January 10th statements to agent Pertzborn because the interviews were noncustodial and Kruckenberg's statements were voluntary.

- A. Kruckenberg was not in custody during the January 10th interviews.
 - 1. A person is in custody for *Miranda* purposes only if their freedom of movement is restricted to a degree associated with formal arrest.

The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution requires law enforcement to inform suspects of their rights to remain silent and to have an attorney present

during custodial interrogations.⁴ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). "Custody," however, "is a term of art that specifies circumstances that are thought generally to present a serious danger of coercion." Howes v. Fields, 565 U.S. 499, 508–09 (2012). "The test to determine custody is an objective one," and asks, "whether there is a formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement of a degree associated with a formal arrest." State v. Lonkoski, 2013 WI 30, ¶ 27, 346 Wis. 2d 523, 828 N.W.2d 552 (citation omitted). "Stated another way, if 'a reasonable person would not feel free to terminate the interview and leave the scene,' then that person is in custody Miranda purposes." Id. (citation omitted). for "[T]he reasonable person [standard] through whom [the Court] view[s] the situation for *Miranda* purposes 'must be neutral to the environment and to the purposes of the investigationthat is, neither guilty of criminal conduct and thus overly apprehensive nor insensitive to the seriousness of the circumstances." State v. Morgan, 2002 WI App 124, ¶ 23, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 648 N.W.2d 23 (citation omitted).

Courts "consider a variety of factors to determine whether under the totality of the circumstances a reasonable person would feel at liberty to terminate an interview and leave." *State v. Bartelt*, 2018 WI 16, ¶ 32, 379 Wis. 2d 588, 906 N.W.2d 684. "The factors include 'the defendant's freedom to leave; the purpose, place, and length of the interrogation; and the degree of restraint' used by law enforcement." *Lonkoski*, 346 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 28 (citation omitted). That an interview takes place in a law enforcement facility weighs toward custody, "but that fact is not dispositive." *Id.* To determine degree of restraint, the factors include "whether the suspect

⁴ The State does not dispute that Kruckenberg was "interrogated" as contemplated by *Miranda* during these interviews. *See State v. Hambly*, 2008 WI 10, ¶ 46, 307 Wis. 2d 98, 745 N.W.2d 48.

is handcuffed, whether a weapon is drawn, whether a frisk is performed, the manner in which the suspect is restrained, whether the suspect is moved to another location, whether questioning took place in a police vehicle, and the number of officers involved." *Id.* (citation omitted).

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