Filed 10-27-2023

Page 1 of 57

FILED 10-27-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT IV

### Case No. 2023AP396-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

LOGAN KRUCKENBERG ANDERSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

Appeal From an Order Suppressing Statements, Entered in the Green County Circuit Court, The Honorable Thomas J. Vale Presiding

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028 marionc@opd.wi.gov

LUCAS SWANK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1103010 swankl@opd.wi.gov

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

#### ARGUMENT

- I. Logan was in custody when police took him from home in the middle of the night to a police station for questioning, and therefore, he should have been provided *Miranda* warnings.
  - A. Legal standard and standard of review.

Police must provide *Miranda* warnings to an individual prior to any custodial interrogation. *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 467-468. *Miranda* warnings are required in order to preserve the Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination given that "[t]he circumstances surrounding in-custody interrogation can operate very quickly to overbear the will of [the suspect]." *Id.* at 469. The State may not use

statements, "whether exculpatory or inculpatory," stemming from custodial interrogation unless it proves that *Miranda* was complied with. *Id.* at 444. The State carries "the burden of establishing whether a custodial interrogation occurred such that *Miranda* warnings were required . . . by a preponderance of the evidence." *State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 351, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999) (overruled on other grounds by *State v. Halverson*, 2021 WI 7, ¶3, 395 Wis. 2d 385, 953 N.W.2d 847).

Determining whether *Miranda* warnings were required involves application of the "custodial interrogation" standard, which has two parts: interrogation and custody. The State concedes all of the questioning here was interrogation. (App. Br. at 17 n.4).<sup>14</sup> An interrogation is "custodial" when a reasonable person would not feel free to end the encounter and leave, under circumstances presenting the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station-house interview in *Miranda*. *Halverson*, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶17. This is an objective test, which considers the totality of the circumstances. *Howes v*. *Fields*, 565 U.S. 499, 509 (2012).

Here, because Logan was a minor, the objective standard includes consideration of his age, which is termed the "reasonable child" standard. J.D.B. v.

27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Interrogation is "any words or action on the part of the police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from the suspect." *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 301 (1980).

North Carolina, 564 U.S. 261, 271-274 (2011). This standard recognizes that children are more likely to feel pressured to submit to law enforcement than adults in similar situations. *Id.* Thus, if a juvenile's age is known to the police at the time of interviewing, this fact must be considered. *Id.* at 274.

A two-step standard of review applies. The circuit court's findings of historical fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous; however, whether a person is "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes is a question of law, reviewed de novo. *State v. Mosher*, 221 Wis. 2d 203, 211, 584 N.W.2d 553 (Ct. App. 1998).

When acting as the factfinder, the circuit court is considered the "ultimate arbiter of the credibility of a witness," and its credibility findings will not be questioned unless they are clearly erroneous. *Welytok v. Ziolkowski*, 2008 WI App 67, ¶28, 312 Wis. 2d 435, 752 N.W.2d 359 (citation omitted). When the evidence "consists of disputed testimony and a video recording, [a reviewing court] will apply the clearly erroneous standard of review when [] reviewing the trial court's findings of fact based on that recording." *State v. Walli*, 2011 WI App 86, ¶16, 334 Wis. 2d 402, 799 N.W.2d 898.

The State asks this Court to review the court's factual findings de novo based on the existence of recordings, with citation to *State v. Rejholec*, 2021 WI App 45, ¶17, 398 Wis. 2d 729, 963 N.W.2d 121. (App. Br. at 16, 27). In *Rejholec*, there was a single, fully-recorded interview that took place at one location.

28

There, "the relevant facts for this appeal *are all* found within the video. . ." *Id.*, ¶5. (emphasis added). While this Court can independently review the videos for the content therein, the circuit court's factual and credibility findings were also informed by seven evidentiary hearings and testimony from thirteen witnesses. Those findings are owed deference.

B. Logan was in custody and should have been provided *Miranda* warnings.

Logan was in custody from the time he was taken from Delores' home—around 11:00pm on January 9th—and at all points thereafter. Under the totality of the circumstances, a reasonable child would not feel "at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave" and "the relevant environment present[ed] the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in *Miranda*." *See Halverson*, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶17 (quoted sources omitted).

To determine custody, the relevant factors include: (1) the purpose, place, and length of the interrogation; (2) the degree of restraint; and (3) the defendant's freedom to leave. *State v. Martin*, 2012 WI 96, ¶ 35, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270. Again, the inquiry utilizes a "reasonable child" standard. *J.D.B.*, 564 U.S. at 264.<sup>15</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The State fails to acknowledge the "reasonable child" standard. Instead, the State repeatedly asserts that Logan was "only four months shy" of seventeen. (App. Br. at 19, 23, 42). The constitutional threshold is eighteen. *See J.D.B.*, 564 U.S. 261

# 1. Purpose, place, and length of interrogation.

The purpose of the interrogation was to investigate a suspected homicide. While the location changed, the interrogation all took place in policedominated environments. Initially, numerous officers were present when Pertzborn took Logan from Delores' home to Brodhead. (R.193 | 0:00-2:31). Police took Logan to Brodhead-ten to fifteen minutes further than Albany PD, where he had previously been questioned. (R.124:26). The late hour would have suggested a gravity that a daytime interview request may not. See Fields, 565 U.S. at 515 (fact that it was past the hour when individuals generally went to bed supported custody argument). Logan was told he was going to be recorded, which also suggests a different and more serious purpose to the interrogation than the previous interrogations.

In Brodhead, Logan was in a secured, police station interrogation room. This fact weighs toward custody. See State v. Lonkoski, 2013 WI 30, ¶28, 346 Wis. 2d 523, 828 N.W.2d 552. Logan was advised that he was being recorded. He was directed to sit in the chair furthest from the door, with Baker and Pertzborn seated in front of both exits. This was the type of "inherently coercive" station house questioning at issue in *Miranda. See Halverson*, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶17.

<sup>277.</sup> Moreover, Dr, Cutler explained, the brain continues to develop into the early or even mid-20s (R.150:15-16).

Page 31 of 57

This was a lengthy interrogation that came on the heels of two other lengthy interrogations. Pertzborn picked Logan up at 11:00pm and the Albany interrogation did not end until 3:30am.<sup>16</sup> (R.100:2; App.114). Logan had spent between seven and eight of the preceding twenty-one hours under the watch of police, and had been subjected to several hours of questioning during that time. (*See* R.100:2; App.114).

Our supreme court in *In re Jerrell C.J.*, 2005 WI 105, ¶33, 283 Wis. 2d 145, 699 N.W.2d 110, emphasized the length of interrogation—five-and-ahalf hours—in its custody determination. Although the interrogation in that case was in a single sitting, Logan would likewise "be left wondering 'if and when the inquisition would ever cease," given that police kept coming back for more questioning. *See id.* (cited source omitted). As the circuit court found it was "rather extraordinary to do this many interviews this quickly in such a short period of time." (R.196:25; App.27).

# 2. Degree of restraint.

Logan faced a high degree of restraint. To determine the degree of restraint, the relevant factors include: whether the suspect is handcuffed, whether a weapon is drawn, whether a frisk is performed, the manner in which the suspect is restrained, whether the suspect is moved to another location, whether

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> By the time he made incriminating statements, it had been two hours since Logan was taken from Delores' house. (R.100:2; App.114).

questioning took place in a police vehicle, and the number of officers involved. *State v. Gruen*, 218 Wis. 2d 581, 594-96, 582 N.W.2d 728 (Ct. App. 1998).

Police took Logan to Brodhead in an imposing manner. Although Delores acknowledged that officers were polite and friendly, they were also authoritative. (R.132:165).<sup>17</sup> When Pertzborn asked Logan to come to Brodhead, Logan told him that he had already spoken to police. As the court found, these words seemed to convey "a meaning of why do I have to go again" for yet more interviewing. (R.196:25; App.27).<sup>18</sup>

Delores asked if she could drive Logan to Brodhead, and police told her no. (R.133:38). Logan was not handcuffed and no weapon was drawn. However, Pertzborn and Baker wore bulletproof vests emblazoned with "POLICE" and were armed. (R.124:72-73). See State v. Ezell, 2014 WI App 101,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The State asks this Court to look at a body cam and determine that the situation was not "authoritative." (App. Br. at 27). However, Schuetz's body cam does not start until police had been at the residence nearly fifteen minutes (Pertzborn tells Logan it is 11:25pm shortly into the video). (R.193|0:00-0:07).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Despite the State's complaint, Logan's statement that he had already spoken to police is relevant. (*See* App. Br. at 23-24). Not only are the prior interrogations an objective factor in the custody analysis, by telling Pertzborn he had already spoken with them, and Pertzborn insisting that he "needed" to speak with Logan anyway, a reasonable child in Logan's position would feel as though they had to acquiesce. Pertzborn confirmed that Logan said he had already spoken with law enforcement (R.124:16), whereas the State incorrectly attributes this statement only to Delores. (App. Br. at 23).

 $\P$  2, 13, 357 Wis. 2d 675, 855 N.W.2d 453. (although defendant was not handcuffed, the fact that the officers' handcuffs and badge were visible weighed toward custody).

In addition to being moved from Delores' house to Brodhead, within the preceding twenty-one hours, police moved Logan four other times: from Lauren's house to his mother's house; from Delores' house to Albany PD; from Albany PD to his mother's house; and from his mother's house back to Albany PD. (*See* R.100; App.114). Police maintained control of Logan's movement during their interactions with him. *See State v. Pounds*, 176 Wis. 2d 315, 321-22, 500 N.W.2d 373 (Ct. App. 1993) (fact that defendant was transported from the scene to another location in a squad car weighed toward custody).

The seizure of Logan's cell phones is also relevant to the degree of restraint. See State v. Bartelt, 2018 WI 16, ¶54, 379 Wis. 2d 588, 906 N.W.2d 684 (interrogation became custodial when police took the defendant's phone and instructed him to remain in the room). Losing one's phone creates a sense of isolation. When Pertzborn and Baker were at Delores' house, before taking Logan to Brodhead, Pertzborn asked Logan if he had any cell phones. Logan showed them to a phone in his bedroom. (R.124:21). Pertzborn took the phone. (R.124:21-22; R.132:98). This was the second time that police took one of Logan's phones. Earlier in the day, Ritter took Logan's phone saying, "we're going to have to keep your telephone because everything you ever did on this is inside of this phone,

33

whether you deleted it or not." (R.192|38:32-38:50; R.112:33).

The number of officers involved also weighs heavily toward a finding that Logan was in custody when he was taken to Brodhead. At least seven officers were present when police took Logan from the house. (R.193|0:00-2:31; R.124:9). See United States v. Smith, 3 F.3d 1088, 1098 (7th Cir. 1993) (presence of at least seven police officers supported conclusion that defendant was in custody). Pertzborn and Baker outnumbered Logan in the vehicle as they drove to Brodhead. (R.124:20). They were escorted to Brodhead by Kanable, who was in full uniform and driving a marked police vehicle—creating a police caravan. (R. 132:98-100).

In the interrogation room, both Pertzborn and Baker were present while Pertzborn interrogated Logan—until Logan ultimately asked if Baker could leave (though he would later return against Logan's wishes). And in the preceding twenty-one hours, at least ten officers<sup>19</sup> from four different law enforcement agencies interacted with Logan.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Pertzborn, Baker, Kanable, Fiez, Ritter, Whitcomb, Degner, Gilbert, Officer Jamy Dennis, Deputy Mark Binger, and Deputy Daniel DeNure all interacted directly with or supervised Logan. Special Agent Holmes, Agent Leck, and Deputy Erdmann were also present at Delores' house. (R.148:14-15).

Filed 10-27-2023

#### 3. Freedom to leave.

Under the totality of the circumstances, a "reasonable child" in Logan's position would not have felt free to refuse questioning.<sup>20</sup> Logan acknowledges that Pertzborn told him that he was free to go and not under arrest; however, these words are not talismanic. *See State v. Uhlenberg*, 2013 WI App 59, 348 Wis. 2d 44, ¶11, 831 N.W.2d 799 (officer told suspect he was not under arrest but the totality of the circumstances established custody); *see also* Wayne R. Lafave, 2 Criminal Procedure § 6.6(d) at 737 n. 64 (4th ed. 2022) (being told by the police that you are not under arrest and can leave at any time "will not carry the day where it is, in effect, nullified by other police conduct").

Pertzborn's statements would have appeared illusory, given the circumstances. Logan's preceding interactions with police in the past twenty-one hours involved repeated restrictions on his freedom of choice, which provide context to how a reasonable child in his position would have felt. While at Albany, Logan brought up getting his backpack—located one block away—but he was told to stay where he was, to let officers finish what they need to do, and that they would go with him. (R.192|3:30-3:50, 49:50-50:11;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Contrary to the State's assertion, the circuit court did not "base[] its finding of custody on what it thought [Logan] subjectively believed at the time about his custodial status." (App. Br. at 23). The court sometimes used first-person language to describe how someone in Logan's position would feel, but applied an objective standard, finding that a "reasonable person" would not feel free to refuse. (R.196:27-28; App.29-30).

Page 36 of 57

R.112:41; R.114:3; R.127:71-72). Later, Logan asked Fiez how long it would be, and—instead of telling Logan that he was free to leave—Fiez said he was not sure. (R.192|33:41-34:02; R.114:20; R.127:77-78). Eventually, Logan asked Kanable if he could leave. (R.132:92). But Kanable told him he could not leave without an adult. (R.132:92; R.133:4). Then, police called Delores, and when she arrived, Kanable told her to not let Logan leave the house. (R.133:4; R.133:20; R.193|45:40-46:05).<sup>21</sup> Delores testified that she relayed that message to Logan. (R.133:134-35). Every time Logan actually attempted to move freely, he was shut down.

It is against this backdrop that the court must evaluate Logan's freedom to decline questioning. No "reasonable child" in Logan's circumstances would feel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The court acknowledged that there was a "little" discrepancy between Delores' and Kanable's testimony about what he told her. (R.196:14; App.16). Kanable testified that he told Delores to "keep an eye" on Logan. (R.132:93). The State argues that Delores' testimony was not credible. (App.'s Br. at 25, 27). It is not this Court's "function to review questions as to weight of testimony and credibility of witnesses." Matter of Dejmal's Estate, 95 Wis. 2d 141, 151-52, 289 N.W.2d 813 (1980). Moreover, contemporaneous evidence supports Delores' account. At her house, prior to leaving for Brodhead, Delores recounted that she was previously told by an officer: "Keep him inside your house.' and I said 'Porch?' and he said 'Not without you."" The State (R.193 | 42:37-42:48). argues that Delores misinterpreted Kanable's statement. (App. Br. at 25). Yet, under the circumstances an objective listener would interpret "keep an eye on him" as a direction to keep him at home.
like they could refuse questioning. Logan was in custody beginning from when he was taken from Delores' house to Brodhead.

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